# FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 2/1/2019 4:15 PM

No. 97008-4 COA No. 49245-8-II

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN NICHOLAS RUSSELL,

Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR GRAYS HARBOR COUNTY

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

THOMAS M. KUMMEROW Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

##

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION1
C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW1
D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE2
E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED8
Admission of the results of the testing of the cellphone and expert certification following the testing in the absence of the testimony of the expert who engaged in the testing violated Mr. Russell's right to confrontation.
F. CONCLUSION

# TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION
U.S. Const. amend. VI
WASHINGTON CONSTITUTION
Article I, section 22
FEDERAL CASES
Bullcoming v. New Mexico, 564 U.S. 647, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011)
Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004)9
Davis v. Washington, 547 U.S. 813, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006)9
Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts, 557 U.S. 305, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009)9
WASHINGTON CASES
State v. Lui, 179 Wn.2d 457, 315 P.3d 493 (2014)
RULES
RAP 13.4

#### A. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Steven Russell asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

#### B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Pursuant to RAP 13.4(b), petitioner seeks review of the partially published Court of Appeals decision in *State v. Steven Nicholas*\*Russell, et al, No. 49245-8-II (January 3, 2019). A copy of the decision is in the Appendix.

#### C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The Confrontation Clause requires the prosecution offer an accused person the opportunity to cross-examine a witness who created incriminating testimonial evidence. Here, the prosecution failed to call the person who conducted the actual testing on the cellphone to testify at trial, but instead relied on a surrogate witness who had never seen the phone and had nothing to do with the testing. The witness merely "parroted" the testing and conclusions reached by the expert who actually conducted the testing. The Court of Appeals affirmed Mr. Russell's conviction, ruling the nontestifying witness was not a witness against Mr. Russell. Is a significant question of law under the United

States and Washington Constitutions involved where Mr. Russell's right to confront the witnesses against him was violated thus requiring reversal of his convictions?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises out of two related incidents which occurred in the late evening of October 24, 2015, and the early morning hours of October 25, 2015. Jose Leiva-Aldana and Augustin Morales-Gamez were walking to their Aberdeen apartment when they were accosted by several men. 6/29/2016RP 92; 6/30/2016RP 94. The men demanded money, unsuccessfully tried to get to Mr. Leiva-Aldana's wallet and took Mr. Morales-Gamez's cellphone. 6/29/2016RP 95; 6/30/2016RP 95. The men physically assaulted Mr. Morales-Gamez and struck Mr. Leiva-Aldana in the head with a metal object. 6/29/2016RP 92-94; 6/30/2016RP 94. Mr. Morales-Gamez fought back, using a small knife he carried to strike out. 6/29/2016RP96. The attackers ran away. 6/30/2016RP 96. Mr. Morales-Gamez and Mr. Leiva-Aldana reported the incident to the police and were taken to the Aberdeen Police Department to be interviewed. 6/29/2016RP 101-05.

Several people witnessed the incident and called the police.
6/29/2016RP 18-19, 47-50. While speaking to the police, Nichol Smith

discovered a cellphone on the ground and gave it to the police. 6/29/2016RP 23, 54; 7/1/2016RP 249.

While the police were investigating the incident, a two men later identified as Steven Russell and Daniel Galeana-Ramirez dropped Alejandro Ramirez off at the Grays Harbor Community Hospital in Aberdeen. 6/30/2016RP 159-60. Alejandro had been stabbed and was examined in the emergency room. 6/30/2016RP 161-63.

After completing their interviews with the police, Mr. Leiva-Aldana and Mr. Morales-Gamez walked back to their apartment.

6/29/2016RP 105; 6/30/2016RP 101-102. As the men approached the apartment, two men with guns were waiting and opened fire.

6/29/2016RP 106. Mr. Leiva-Aldana was shot in the abdomen and Mr. Morales-Galeana was shot in the foot. 6/29/2016RP 106; 6/30/2016RP 102. Mr. Leiva-Aldana identified Daniel Galeana-Ramirez as the person who shot him. 6/30/2016RP 104.

Mr. Russell was subsequently charged with a count of first degree robbery and a count of attempted first degree robbery, each count with an accompanying firearm enhancement. CP 224-25. In addition, Mr. Russell was charged with two counts of first degree assault and two counts of fourth degree assault. CP 225-27. All of the

counts arose out of the two related incidents described above. The one item that linked Mr. Russell to the two related incidents was his cellphone, located at the scene.

Prior to trial, the State sought to admit the results of testing of the cellphone found at the scene of the robbery by an expert following the extraction of data without having the expert testify. The State argued this process did not violate Mr. Russell's rights to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment and Article I, section 22. CP 59-60; 6/22/2016RP 4-11. Instead, the State sought to admit the expert's written conclusions through the testimony of the lead investigating detective. CP 56-60. Alternatively, the State sought to substitute the testimony of a surrogate witness from the testing institution to testify about the testing and conclusions of the testing expert. 6/22/2016RP 5.

In testifying at the pretrial hearing on the admissibility of the testing results, Joan Runs Through, the assistant director of the Computer Crime Institute at Dixie State University in Utah, and a lab examiner at its forensics laboratory, admitted she did not test Mr. Russell's phone, did not witness the testing and relied solely on the reports of the testing done by Mr. Matthews. 6/22/2016RP 43-44, 60-

61. Ms. Runs Through testified extensively about the extraction and testing process

We take the memory chip out. This takes quite a bit of heat because we have to not just melt the solder, but there's also epoxy around it.

Chips are rated to about 500 degrees Farenheit [sic] -. We have to stay below that heat. We take the chip off, we put it into an adapter, connect it to a program and use the program in a read only mode to transfer a bit-for-bit copy, a binary copy, of that chip.

We then take that binary image, put it into software such as Cell Bright's physical analyzer and the software will parse that binary information into human readable user data.

. . .

Q Now, when the -- you mentioned removing the chip. You said there was epoxy that had to be softened up with heat; is that right?

A Yes.

Q And now if somebody uses an incorrect heat setting, what's going to happen?

A It's going to destroy the data.

. . .

Q So throughout this entire process how many discretionary decisions does the operator really have to make?

A Discretionary, I would -- two. You choose the size of the chip, the software, and the second one is you are choosing the scripts that are to be run.

6/22/2016RP 39-40, 42-48.

The trial court ruled Mr. Russell's right to confrontation required the surrogate witness to testify in person and be subject to cross-examination in order to admit the results of the data extraction by the testing expert.

Here's my ruling. As I already indicated I believe that the defense has the right to confront a witness on this situation. Because I -- I don't know of any case that would allow me just to say, the data comes to Detective Cox, who is not an expert at all in computers, and that he can just go forward with the data and lay some sort of foundation and have it admitted. So we do need an expert.

My number one preference would be to get the expert that did it. I think that's what the commentators recommend, number one. And it's kind of a very hotly-debated area of the law, as you can see from reading the Lui decision and other decisions.

#### 6/22/2016RP 58-59.

At trial, Ms. Runs Through testified regarding the extraction of the data on the cellphone and preparation of the certification listing the results of the testing and the expert's conclusion. 6/30/2016RP 24-73. The director of the Institute and the person who had engaged in the testing of the cellphone, William Matthews, had been fired by the Institute and Ms. Runs Through was testifying regarding his testing and results of that testing in his stead. 6/30/2016RP 42, 73-74. According to Ms. Runs Through, Mr. Matthews was fired for misusing the Institute's

funds by funding other areas without the University's permission. 6/30/2016RP 74.

Ms. Runs Through testified consistent with her pretrial testimony regarding the process purported to be used by Mr. Matthews in extracting the data from the phone and generating a report regarding the results. The report was subsequently admitted at trial. 6/30/2016RP 70.

The results of the cellphone testing became the centerpiece of the State's circumstantial case against Mr. Russell. During closing argument, the prosecutor stressed the importance of this data in the prosecution:

Now, different evidence has different amounts of weight. Some of it has great value, like that cell phone. Cell phone told us all kinds of things. Okay. Until the cell phone, we had witness - three eyewitness ID's, three separate people saying Steven Russell was one of the attackers. After the cell phone we know it was his phone . . .There's no question it's his. Three eyewitnesses and a cell phone puts him as one of the robbers.

. . .

Now, the cell phone itself doesn't tell you anything, right? It's just a phone. It's broken. It's had the chips ripped out of it. It's in a puddle. It's fried. It has to be in evidence, but this itself doesn't tell you anything. What tells you something is the cell phone records. And I've already talked about those and you can look at them to your heart's content. Detective Cox has pretty much explained what he found in there. Three eyewitnesses

and the cell phone make Russell out as the larger of the two attackers.

. . .

Now, Ramirez. The common thread in this case is Russell, but he's connected to Ramirez . . . The cell phone records come back - and you've got them here.

7/15/2016RP 636-37, 65-52, 655-56.

The Court of Appeals rejected Mr. Russell's Confrontation

Clause challenge, finding that, while he was a "witness," Mr. Matthews

was not a witness *against* Mr. Russell. Decision at 8-9.

#### E. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

Admission of the results of the testing of the cellphone and expert certification following the testing in the absence of the testimony of the expert who engaged in the testing violated Mr. Russell's right to confrontation.

The Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 22 of the Washington Constitution guarantee criminal defendants the right to confront and cross-examine witnesses. The Confrontation Clause "applies to 'witnesses' against the accused - in other words, those who 'bear testimony.'" *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S.Ct. 1354, 158 L.Ed.2d 177 (2004) (citation omitted). It also "bars 'admission of testimonial statements of a witness who did not appear at trial unless [the declarant] was unavailable to

testify, and the defendant had had a prior opportunity for cross-examination." *Davis v. Washington*, 547 U.S. 813, 821, 126 S.Ct. 2266, 165 L.Ed.2d 224 (2006), *quoting Crawford*, 541 U.S. at 53-54.

In *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts*, the United States Supreme Court ruled that a lab technician's certification prepared in connection with a criminal prosecution was "testimonial" and its admission at trial by another technician violated the Confrontation Clause. 557 U.S. 305, 319-24, 129 S.Ct. 2527, 174 L.Ed.2d 314 (2009). "A document created solely for 'an evidentiary purpose,' made in aid of a police investigation ranks as testimonial." *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. 647, 664, 131 S.Ct. 2705, 180 L.Ed.2d 610 (2011), *quoting Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-20.

When a forensic analyst tests evidence and prepares a report for use in a criminal investigation, the substance of that report is "testimonial,' and therefore within the compass of the Confrontation Clause." *Bullcoming*, at 658-59, *quoting Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-21. The Confrontation Clause guarantees the defendant the opportunity to test through cross-examination the "honesty, proficiency, and methodology" of the analyst who actually performed the forensic analysis. *Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. at 317-20. Accordingly,

an analyst's report may not be introduced into evidence by another witness who did not personally observe the testing of the substance. *Bullcoming*, 564 U.S. at 665.

The Court of Appeals relied upon this Court's decision in *State*v. *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d 457, 315 P.3d 493 (2014), to find Mr. Matthews was not a "witness against" Mr. Russell. Decision at 8-9. But the *Lui* Court made it clear that a "witness's statements [that] help to identify or inculpate the defendant" makes the witness a "witness against" the defendant. 179 Wn.2d at 482. Mr. Matthews's results from the cellphone data extraction and his subsequent report were used to "help to identify or inculpate" Mr. Russell, thus Mr. Matthews was a witness against Mr. Russell and the results and report were admitted in violation of his confrontation rights.

The decision in *Lui* is distinctive in a number of ways applicable here. The Court noted that "an expert witness may not parrot the conclusions of others and circumvent the confrontation clause." *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 484. In addition, if scientific or technical evidence "is used in court, the confrontation clause is implicated." *Id*. Further, the *Lui* Court noted that cross examination of an expert witness is required where the witness gives *meaning* to raw data. *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 485.

In *Lui*, the Court ruled the mere extracting and initial testing of a DNA sample that was testified to by a witness who did not perform these tasks did not implicate the confrontation clause. *Id* at 487-89. But, once an expert is required to translate this raw data into a profile, then the confrontation clause is implicated and the witness who performed that translation was required to testify. *Id* at 488-89. Thus in *Lui*, Supreme Court ruled that admission of a nontestifying witness's conclusions regarding toxicology test results following an autopsy and conclusions drawn during that autopsy did violate the confrontation clause. *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 494-95. In both instances, the testifying witness merely parroted the conclusions of the nontestifying expert, thus implicating and violating the confrontation clause. *Id*.

Ms. Runs Through did the same here; she merely parroted the conclusions of Mr. Matthews. *Lui*, 179 Wn.2d at 484. Ms. Runs Through never examined Mr. Russell's phone nor engaged in any independent testing, relying solely on the testing done by Mr. Matthews. In addition, Mr. Matthews did not just extract the data but gave meaning to data thus implicating the confrontation clause.

Detective Cox also did not engage in any analysis and merely relied on the analysis conducted by Mr. Matthews in realizing the

cellphone belonged to Mr. Russell. Detective Cox provided no independent analysis of his own and did nothing more than read Mr. Matthews's report in coming to his realization:

- Q. And based on the last last couple of exhibits, <sup>1</sup> did you come to a conclusion about whose phone that might be?
- A. Yes.
- Q. What is it?
- A. Steven Russell's.

7/1/2016RP 378. Thus, like Ms. Runs Through, Detective Cox merely parroted the results of the reports conducted by Mr. Matthews, once again highlighting the violation of Mr. Russell's right to confrontation.

This Court should grant review to determine whether Mr.

Matthews was a witness against Mr. Russell and reverse his

convictions.

 $<sup>^{\</sup>rm 1}$  The "exhibits" were the excerpts of Mr. Matthews's report. CP 137-38 (Exhibit 65).

### F. CONCLUSION