FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/30/2019 8:14 AM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 97008-4

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

\_\_\_\_

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

STEVEN NICOLAS RUSSELL, ALEJANDRO RAMIREZ and DANIEL GALEANA RAMIREZ,

Appellants.

ANSWER TO GALEANA AND RAMIREZ' PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

KATHERINE L. SVOBODA

Prosecuting Attorney for Grays Harbor County

BY://

JASON F. WALKER Chief Criminal Deputy WSBA # 44358

OFFICE AND POST OFFICE ADDRESS Grays Harbor County Prosecuting Attorney 102 West Broadway Room 102 Montesano, WA 98563 (360) 249-3951

### TABLES

###

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

### E. ARGUMENT

1. The cell phone examiner was not a "witness against" the Petitioners because the cell phone data that was admitted contains no statements by that examiner (Galeana's only issue and Ramirez' issue #3.)

The Petitioners claim that their confrontation rights were violated because the examiner who extracted the data from Russell's cell phone did not testify at trial, but excerpts from data were admitted into evidence.

The Petitioners confuse evidentiary foundational requirements for admission of exhibits with the constitutional confrontation right. The excerpts admitted at trial, attached as Appendix A, contain no statements from the examiner. All that was required for admission of the data is authentication pursuant to ER 901. The Petitioners have no right to

confront a person who merely operated a machine that transferred data from one electronic device to another.

## The Confrontation Clause applies to "witnesses against," who are limited to persons who make statements to the court.

The sixth amendment to the U.S. Constitution holds that, "..."[i]n all criminal prosecutions, the accused shall enjoy the right ... to be confronted with the witnesses against him." The analogous provision of the Washington State constitution holds that, "In criminal prosecutions the accused shall have the right... to meet the witnesses against him face to face..." Wa. Const. art. I, § 22. These provisions have been held to be analogous. *State v. Lui*, 179 Wn.2d 457, 470, 315 P.3d 493, 499 (2014). Therefore, herein the State will only refer to the sixth amendment confrontation clause.

The confrontation clause applies to "witnesses against" the accused – that is, those who "bear testimony." *Crawford v. Washington*, 541 U.S. 36, 51, 124 S. Ct. 1354, 1364, 158 L. Ed. 2d 177 (2004). In other words, "if an out-of-court statement is testimonial in nature, it may not be introduced against the accused at trial[.]" *Bullcoming v. New Mexico*, 564 U.S. 647, 657, 131 S. Ct. 2705, 2713, 180 L. Ed. 2d 610 (2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Unless the defendant has had a prior opportunity to cross-examine the declarant, and the declarant is unavailable for trial. *Bullcoming* at 657. This exception is not applicable here.

What is "testimonial" was only roughly defined in *Crawford*, and was the subject of a number of cases over the next ten years. In this line of cases the courts were always careful to note that the decision did not reach every link in the chain of custody, or extend to machine-generated data.

In *Melendez-Diaz v. Massachusetts* the U.S. Supreme Court found that "certificates of analysis" prepared and sworn by a crime lab analyst, concluding that a substance contained cocaine, and attesting to the weight of the substance, were "testimonial." *Melendez-Diaz*, 557 U.S. 305, 311, 129 S. Ct. 2527, 2532, 174 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2009). However, the *Melendez-Diaz* court also held that the confrontation clause does not sweep in persons whose evidence relates to foundational matters, such as the chain of custody or authenticity of the sample. *Id.* at 311 n. 1.

In *Bullcoming v. New Mexico* the U.S. Supreme Court concluded that an unsworn "Report of Blood Alcohol Analysis" was testimonial.<sup>5</sup> *Bullcoming* at 665. That report included the condition of the seal the blood sample when received, that it was broken in the laboratory, that he had followed certain procedures outlined on the back of the document, and the end result obtained by operation of a gas chromatograph. *Id.* at 653-54. That result was that the Defendant's blood alcohol level was 0.21,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In *Bullcoming*, the New Mexico Supreme Court had found that the report was testimonial in nature as well, but ruled it admissible on other grounds.

which fulfilled one of the elements of New Mexico's Aggravated DWI law, the crime for which the defendant had been charged and convicted. *See* N.M. Stat. Ann. § 66-8-102(D)(1). The *Bullcoming* court stated, however, that the confrontation clause applied to "past events and human actions not revealed in raw, machine-produced data..." *Bullcoming* at 660 (and *see Lui* at 479.)

In her concurrence, Justice Sotomayor pointed out the limited holding of the case, noting that, "this is not a case in which the State introduced only machine-generated results, such as a printout from a gas chromatograph. The State here introduced [the analyst]'s statements..."

Id. at 673 (Sotomayor, J. concurring.)

In *State v. Lui* this Court digested the *Crawford* line of cases and formulated a simple rule: "If the declarant makes a factual statement to the tribunal, then he or she is a witness. If the witness's statements help to identify or inculpate the defendant, then the witness is a 'witness against' the defendant." *Lui* at 481. But again, the opinion was careful to make clear that the holding does not require the testimony of "analysts whose only role is to operate a machine or add a reagent to a mixture." *Id.* at 480.

### The cell phone examiner who extracted the data admitted in this case made no statements.

In this case the cell phone examiner who extracted the data from the cell phone – William Matthews - made no statements. He is neither a "witness against," a "witness," or even a "declarant." He simply performed a mechanical process wherein a computer copied data from a memory chip taken out of a cell phone – data that had been created before the incidents that led to the charges. That data was organized into a document by a computer program. RP 6/30/2016 at 30. Nine pages of that document were admitted into evidence. Copies of all the exhibits are attached as Appendix A.<sup>6</sup> The State invites this Court to examine them. They contain no statements, much less conclusions, of the cell phone examiner.

The Petitioners characterize the data as a "report" and claim that the extraction process was a "test" in order to conflate the act of copying preexisting data with forensic analysis. They claim that Detective Cox,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The entirety of the document produced from the cell phone data was marked as Exhibit #32, but not admitted. RP 6/30/2016 at 68-69. Admitted exhibits were Nos. 42 (Pages 1 & 2, RP 6/30/2016 at 70,) 52 (pages 3-5, PR 7/1/2016 at 357,) 58 (page 251, RP 7/1/2016 at 380,) 64 (page 132, RP 7/1/2016 at 379,) 65 (page 391, RP 7/1/2016 at 377,) and 77 (page 53, RP 7/6/2016 at 495.) The messages in Exhibits nos. 65 and 77 were redacted at the request of the defense as irrelevant and potentially prejudicial as they contained references to gangster rap, drug use, and Russell being on community custody. *See* RP at 365-75.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> To be fair, the document is characterized as a "report" on its cover page, and was called that by the witness who gave the foundational testimony. *See* RP 6/30/2016 at 29.

who used a police database and his knowledge of the case to link the phone to the Petitioners "simply parroted" the conclusions of the cell phone examiner. But the Petitioners never identify where in the record the conclusions of the cell phone examiner are located.

This failure to refer to the record is simply explained: the cell phone examiner drew no conclusions. He merely performed a procedure in which cell phone data was copied off the chip of the phone and turned into a human-readable document by software on a computer, as Joan Runs Through testified. *See* RP 6/30/2016 at 33-42. There is nothing in the record to suggest the examiner knew what crime had occurred, who the suspects were, or that he even looked at the data. The testimony at trial was that cell phone examiners seldom look at the contents of the phones; they leave that to the police. RP 6/30/2016 at 71.

The conclusions that Detective Cox testified to were his own, based upon the raw data from the phone and his knowledge of the Petitioners. Detective Cox knew Russell's date of birth was March 4, 1989, which led to the conclusion the user names "snrussell030489" and "snrussell89," both found in the phone, were Petitioner Steven N. Russell's. RP 7/1/2016 at 357-58. Detective Cox figured out the contact "Silent" was Ramirez by matching "Silent's" phone number to Ramirez'

last known phone number in his police database. RP 7/1/2016 at 381-85. Detective Cox also discovered that Ramirez had "Silent" tattooed on his arm. RP 7/1/2016 at 385-86. And Detective Cox found Galeana and Rigo Rivera's names in the phone data, implying that the person who ended up with the firearm used in the shooting knew the Petitioners. RP 7/6/2016 at 495-96. There is no evidence that the cell phone examiner, who was in Utah and possessed the phone for about twenty-four hours, knew any of this information.

The conclusion is that Detective Cox was the "witness against" the Petitioners, because he was the witness who turned the data into inculpatory evidence, and explained to the jury how he did it. As the Court of Appeals observed, the examiner "merely ran a program that extracted data from the chip." *State v. Ramirez*, 432 P.3d 454, 459 (Wash. Ct. App. 2019). Such an act does not a witness make, as *Bullcoming*, *Melendez-Diaz* and *Lui* expressly made clear.

Because there are no statements attributable to the nontestifying cell phone examiner, he was not a "witness against" the Petitioners, and their confrontation clause rights were unoffended by his absence. This Court should deny the Petitions for Review.

If this Court does accept review, it should decide that the cell phone technician was not a "witness" at all, because he made no statements to the trial court.

In *Lui* this court ruled that a doctor who took a corpse's temperature, which was later used to help form an expert opinion at trial, was a "witness," but not a "witness against," because the temperature was factual information created for use by the court. *Lui* at 493. Relying upon that holding, the Court of Appeals in this case held that the cell phone examiner was a "witness" but not a "witness against" the Petitioners.

If this Court does accept review, it should correct this point. The cell phone examiner did not create any information. The cell phone data existed before the phone was ever sent to him. The cell phone examiner merely performed a mechanical process. He was a link in the chain of custody, but this does not make him a witness. If the Petition is accepted, the State asks this Court to correct this issue.

2. There was evidence of a firearm or other deadly weapon during the robbery and assault, so Ramirez' right to a unanimous jury verdict was not violated (Ramirez' issue #1.)

The jury was instructed that they could convict Ramirez of the charges of Robbery in the First Degree and Attempted Robbery in the First Degree if they found that Ramirez either a) displayed what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon; or b) inflicted bodily injury. CP at 78-

79. The jury returned general guilty verdicts to both counts. CP at 93, 95. Because the victims were obviously injured, Ramirez claims that a lack of evidence of a display of what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon means that his right to a unanimous jury verdict might have been violated. However, there was evidence to support the alternative means, as the Court of Appeals found.

### Alternate means crimes and sufficiency of the evidence.

Criminal defendants in Washington "have no right to unanimity as to means so long as all means alleged are (1) supported by sufficient evidence and [are] (2) 'not repugnant' to one another." *State v. Woodlyn*, 188 Wn.2d 157, 164, 392 P.3d 1062, 1066 (2017) (citing *State v. Arndt*, 87 Wn.2d 374, 378-79, 553 P.2d 1328 (1976).) "A general verdict satisfies due process only so long as each alternative means is supported by sufficient evidence." *Id.* at 165. "The evidence is sufficient if 'after viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, any rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt'." *State v. Armstrong*, 188 Wn.2d 333, 341, 394 P.3d 373, 377 (2017) (quoting *Ortega-Martinez*, 124 Wn.2d 702, 881 P.2d 231 (1994).)

An insufficiency claim "admits the truth of the State's evidence and all inferences that reasonably can be drawn therefrom." *State v. Salinas*, 119 Wn. 2d 192, 201, 829 P.2d 1068, 1074 (1992) (citing *State v. Theroff,* 25 Wn. App. 590, 593, 608 P.2d 1254, *aff'd,* 95 Wn.2d 385, 622 P.2d 1240 (1980).)

### There was evidence of a firearm or other deadly weapon.

Nicole Smith, one of the witnesses to the assault, testified that Mr. Leiva and Mr. Morales were saying "pistol" immediately after the attack. RP 6/29/2016 at 20. At trial, Mr. Morales said that he was hit in the head with "something that was metal." RP 6/29/2016 at 93. Mr. Leiva said that the assailants had "something black, like a weapon." RP 6/30/2016 at 95. When asked if the assailants hit him with a knife or a gun, Mr. Leiva said it was "a[n] arm." RP 6/30/2016 at 95-96. During cross-examination, Mr. Leiva again said the black object in the hands of the assailants was "an arm." When asked about seeing a gun, Mr. Leiva said, "Yes. I saw like a weapon, like an arm in his hand and I assumed it was a - an arm." RP 6/30/2016 at 149. Later, Mr. Leiva said he saw a gun in the hands of the attackers. RP 6/30/2016 at 145-46.

Both Mr. Morales and Mr. Leiva testified through an interpreter,<sup>8</sup> so "arm" is a translation. Having an arm in one's hand makes no sense, so it more likely, given the other testimony about a pistol and something metal, that Mr. Leiva meant that the assailants were *armed*.

Because all inferences are construed in the State's favor, the Court of Appeals found that this evidence was sufficient to support the alternate means of displaying what appeared to be a firearm or other deadly weapon.

Ramirez claims the Court of Appeals' decision "conflicts" with *State v. Bratz*, 101 Wn. App. 662, P.3d 759 (2000) and *State v. DeRyke*, 149 Wn.2d 906, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003). But *Bratz* announces no rule for when evidence is considered sufficient, and *DeRyke* appears to be about definitions in jury instructions.

In *Bratz* the Defendant was found not guilty by reason of insanity of robbery after claiming he had nitroglycerin in his coat. *Bratz* at 664-65. No nitroglycerin was recovered when he was arrested. *Id.* at 665. Bratz

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> There were obvious language and cultural barriers throughout the testimony of Mr. Leiva and Mr. Morales. Mr. Morales used slang words that the court's interpreter could not identify, such as "putazo." RP 6/29/2016 at 102-05. Great time was given to the meaning of the word "guero." See RP 6/29/2016 at 118-19 and RP 7/6/2016 at 539-40. An interpreter who had translated for the men before trial testified that their vocabulary was very limited and that she frequently had to rephrase questions so that they would understand. RP 7/6/2016 at 538. She also testified that "guero" could mean "white" "non-chicano" or even "blond."

filed a Personal Restraint Petition arguing that simply claiming to have nitroglycerin, without more, was not a "display" of a deadly weapon, and the Court of Appeals agreed. *Id* at 674.

Bratz is inapplicable here. Bratz simply stands for the unremarkable proposition that a robber must do more than claim to have a weapon to "display" it.

Ramirez also claims the Court of Appeals' decision runs afoul of *State v. DeRyke*, 149 Wn.2d 906, 73 P.3d 1000 (2003). That case appears to be inapposite. *DeRyke* involved jury instructions that omitted the elements of first degree rape when the defendant was charged with *attempted* first degree rape and failed to specify the degree of rape allegedly attempted. *DeRyke* at 910. There is no mention of alternative means crimes or sufficiency of the evidence in *DeRyke*. How the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts is lost upon the State.

### Conclusion.

Because this claim involves the sufficiency of the evidence, a claim already rejected by the courts below, and no substantive issue of law, this court should refuse Ramirez' Petition.

## 3. Ramirez received a fair trial because his case was properly joined to Russell and Galeana's (Ramirez' issue #2.)

Petitioner Ramirez next asks that this Court review the trial court's decision to join his case, and subsequent denial of his motions to sever his case, from Russell and Galeana's. He claims there was a disparity in the weight of the evidence between his case and his co-defendants', despite both the trial court and the Court of Appeals' rulings that the evidence against Ramirez was strong.

What Ramirez is really arguing is that co-defendants cannot be joined if one is identified by an eyewitness, but the other is subsequently identified through investigation. No case stands for this proposition.

Again, Ramirez is attempting to reargue the facts of the case without any substantive question of law.

### Separate trials are disfavored.

Separate trials are disfavored in Washington, so joinder of the same series of events is presumptively proper. *State v. Asaeli*, 150 Wn. App 543, 583, 208 P.3d 1136 (2009) (citing *State v. Dent*, 123 Wn.2d 467, 484, 869 P.2d 392 (1994).) Denial of a motion to sever is reviewed for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Asaeli*, 150 Wn. App. 543, 583, 208 P.3d 1136, 1159 (2009) (citing *State v. Lane*, 56 Wn.App. 286, 298, 786 P.2d 277 (1989).) When a defendant makes a motion to sever, he has the

burden to demonstrate that a joint trial would be so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the concern for judicial economy. *Id.* (citing *State v. Hoffman*, 116 Wn.2d 51, 74, 804 P.2d 577 (1991).) A defendant must show specific prejudice to support a claim that the trial court abused its discretion in denying a severance motion. *Id.* (citing *State v. Wood*, 94 Wn.App. 636, 641, 972 P.2d 552 (1999).)

Ramirez has failed to show manifest, specific prejudice.

The evidence against Ramirez was circumstantial, but strong.

As the Court of Appeals wrote,